1967

Jerry Sine and Dora T. Sine, his Wife v. Western Travel, Inc., a Corporation, Hyatt Chalet Motels Inc., a Corporation, and Harold Butler Enterprises, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action for injunction to enforce a restrictive covenant that a tract of land in Salt Lake City, Utah, will not be used for the erection of a motel thereon.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Following trial before the Court without a jury, the Court ruled against the plaintiffs and entered a Memorandum Decision of dismissal and then made Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and denied the Motion of plaintiffs to amend the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree or alternatively, for a new trial.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs seek reversal of the judgment of the District Court for an interpretation of the restrictive covenant that erection of a restaurant under lease from the owner of all the land, coupled with erection of lodging rooms, office, swimming pool, parking space, and liquor dispensary is in its entirety the construction of a motel on the restricted land as to the restaurant portion, or alternatively, the reversal of the trial court for failure to amend Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law requiring reversal of the judgment or a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiffs and appellants will be referred to herein as plaintiffs, and the defendants will be referred to collectively as defendants or as Western Travel, Hyatt Motels, or Butler Enterprises where referred to individually.

The plaintiffs were owners in 1955 and 1956 of a piece of land 40 x 97 feet on North Temple Street between Second and Third West Streets in Salt Lake City, Utah (R. 86-87). Plaintiffs in those years and for several years prior thereto had been owners of a large motel three blocks west of the said property, known as Se Rancho Motel and consisting of 200 rooms with swimming pool, tennis court and playground, parking area and leased restaurant (R. 83-85), and also of Scotty's Travel Motor Hotel one block farther west with similar facilities except that a separately owned cafe adjoins the property (R. 85).

Plaintiffs were approached in 1956 by a real estate agent representing Wright-Wirthlin and seeking to purchase the said tract of ground 40 x 97 feet (R. 88). A bargain was made and there was presented to plaintiffs for signature an Earnest Money Agreement, Assignment of Contract and Quit-Claim Deed which are Exhibits P-5, 6 and 7 (R. 92-93). The purchaser Neilson transferred an interest to Messrs. Wright and Wirthlin and to Metropolitan Investment Company, a partnership (Exhibit P-9 and P-10) which then conveyed to defendant Western Travel (R. 94 and Exhibit P-11).

In making the purchase, A. P. Neilson was acting in behalf of himself and Messrs. Wright and Wirthlin which resulted in the holding of the land by the partnership of said persons and known as Metropolitan Investment Company (Exhibit P-9).

In 1960 an action was brought by Metropolitan

Investment against the plaintiffs to declare the restrictive covenant invalid which case was resolved in favor of these plaintiffs by this Court in Case No. 9622, *Metropolitan Investment Company, a partnership composed of W. Adrian Wright, W. Meeks Wirthlin and A. P. Neilson vs. Jerry Sine and Dora T. Sine*, 14 Utah 2d 36, 376 P.2d 940.

While the said action was pending, an action for rescission or for damages for breach of the covenant was brought by the plaintiffs against A. P. Neilson, Metropolitan Investment Company and Western Travel, Case No. 134154 in the Third District Court, of which file judicial notice is taken in this action.

This case was dismissed in February, 1964, following the decision in Case No. 9622, the Court stating:

“After a discussion of the facts and the law involved in the action, and it appearing to the Court that the Supreme Court has heretofore held the deed between the parties to contain a restrictive covenant and that the same is binding on all parties;

It was, therefore, held by the court as a matter of law that rescission cannot be had in this case, and that the Complaint does not state a cause of action as to any of the purported considerations set forth therein insofar as rescission is concerned.

And there being no evidence of a breach of covenant and of damage to the plaintiff, the Complaint in its entirety is dismissed with prejudice.”

In July, 1963, an action was commenced in the Third District Court by defendant Western Travel against these plaintiffs in an action of which judicial notice was taken in this case by which Western Travel sought a judgment that the construction of a proposed hotel utilizing the 40 x 97 foot tract of land as parking space incident to and in conjunction with a hotel-restaurant open to the public generally was sought. This action was dismissed on March 18, 1964, by Honorable A. H. Ellett, Judge, on the authority of *Metropolitan Investment Company v. Sine* as shown by the file which is before the Court as part of the record, the Order of Dismissal stating:

“After discussion of the facts and the applicable law including the decision of the Utah Supreme Court in the case of *Sine v. Metropolitan Investment Company*, 14 Utah 2d, 38, this Court stated that it was bound by the decision in that case which related to the property involved in this action and that construction of a parking lot in connection with a motel appeared to be within the covenant.”

On February 16, 1965, application for a building permit was filed with Salt Lake City by Bob B. Allred for Hyatt Chalet Motels (Exhibit P-12) with which were filed certain plans received in evidence as Exhibit P-14. These plans at Sheet 1-B show that the design of the entire property was by architect Pollack of Hyatt Motels and show the architectural style of the two buildings.

On March 5, 1965, application for building permit for Denny's Restaurant was filed by Richard G. Sharp and naming Hyatt Chalet Motel, Inc. of 1610 South Main, Bountiful, as General Contractor (Exhibit P-16).

The design and layout for the high-rise hotel referred to in Action No. 144500 is Exhibit P-18 which shows the proposed arrangement as of that time with reference to the tract of land involved in the action.

Exhibits P-35 and P-36 relate respectively to the area where the lodging units, office, swimming pool and parking and the area covered by the restaurant and parking are situated.

Western Travel conveyed the large area to Hyatt Motels on May 6, 1965, which gave a deed of trust on April 29, 1965, for \$450,000.00 with assignment of rents and income the same date, and deed back to Western Travel dated May 5, 1965, all recorded May 10, 1965 (Exhibit P-35).

The tract subject to the restrictive covenant and some additional land was conveyed May 6, 1965, by Western Travel to Harold Butler Enterprises which conveyed April 30, 1965, to Hyatt Motels, which gave deed of trust April 29, 1965, for \$120,000.00, with assignment of rents and income the same date and deed back to Western Travel May 5, 1965 (Exhibit P-35).

The Hyatt Motels lease to Butler Enterprises (Exhibit P-39) calls for construction of restaurant

building and reciting the restrictive covenant on the land at Page 8 of the lease.

The stock ownership of Western Travel is shown by Exhibit P-40 and is shown to include W. Adrian Wright, Weeks Wirthlin and A. P. Neilson.

The plaintiff Jerry Sine testified that he has been in the motel business for 20 years (R. 108) and testified as an expert that "a motel is an inn or a roadside hotel offering lodging, food, I would say, food, lodging and parking, a swimming pool, and many other services, and various entertainments in the rooms, such as TV, radio, independent music and the like" (R. 109). Most large motels have swimming pools, all have parking for automobiles, and not all serve food and beverage (R. 110). The additional facilities are necessary for motels of over 40 units (R. 110). A motel is a modern word first appearing in the dictionary in 1948 (R. 111). The advertising of motels draws attention to their facilities including service of food, parking, TV and swimming pools (R. 112). Such advertising, drawing attention to service of food, was illustrated by Exhibits P-19, a magazine called "Hospitality — Food and Lodging —" at Page 74, 85 and 106; P-20 the "Tourist Court Journal" at Page 20 to 26; "Newsweek" magazine for February 7, 1966, at Page 77, Exhibit P-21; Exhibit P-22, a publication of Hyatt Motels obtained from the Salt Lake office of the Hyatt Inn and the classified sections of the Phoenix, Salt Lake City and Provo telephone directories, being Exhibits P-23, 24 and 25.

Plaintiffs' Se Rancho motel has connected with it a restaurant called "Se Rancho Broiler" which is under lease and seats 90 or more people (R. 121). Scotty's Travel Motel adjoins the "Poor Boy Restaurant" which is under separate ownership (R. 122). The later Travel-Lodge Motels are building restaurants (R. 126).

Jerry Sine's testimony of conversation with the real estate agent in 1956 was that no motel or anything in connection with a motel would be built on the property (R. 133). It was his intention to prevent a pretentious motel fronting on North Temple (R. 136).

Hyatt Motels was putting in the footings when Mr. Sine referred the matter to counsel (R. 130).

Roy Menlove, part owner and manager of the World Motel testified that Exhibit P-26 shows the restaurant Teogra connected with the World Motel and that the corporation owns the building and leases out the restaurant (R. 139-140). In its advertising, the World Motel advertises the Teogra Restaurant (R. 140). It is important that the restaurant be connected with the motel (R. 143-145). A large part of the business of the Teogra Restaurant is from the public (R. 147).

Richard L. Webber, manager of Covey's America Motor Lodge in Salt Lake City testified that a reputation for good food aides in the sale of the main product which is guest rooms. A luxury motel includes a coffee shop or dining room and it is ideal to have the food

department on a lease basis with a first-class operator (R. 151-152). Covey's New America has a lease with the Hot Shoppes which is one of the large chain of restaurants comparable to Denny's (R. 155). Covey's New America has 330 rooms and the Hot Shoppes Restaurant will seat 350. The card advertisement of New America Motor Lodge and the Hot Shoppes Restaurant is Exhibit P-27.

Leon Dale Reed testified that he is co-owner of a 67 unit motel in Seattle and District Governor of Best Western, also National Director of the Motel Association (R. 158). Best Western is a referral organization of motels with an advertising program and group purchasing. Its travel guide shows the accommodations of motels including coffee shops, restaurants, lounges and swimming pools (R. 159). Motel is a coined word and is an umbrella which covers tourist courts, motor hotels, inns, chalets and their accommodations (R. 160). In cities where the best have restaurants, the public demands a facility which includes a restaurant (R. 161). It makes no difference to Best Western whether the restaurant is owned and operated or leased out (R. 162).

Exhibit P-28 is the Best Western Guide which shows whether each motel has a restaurant or swimming pool, parking being fundamental and assumed to exist. Motel chains are not included in P-28. About 60% of motels listed have restaurants including his of 67 rooms which has a coffee shop to seat 36 people (R. 164). Coffee shops usually cater to the public although this is

not necessarily indicated by the number of seats with reference to the rooms of the motel (R. 165).

The word "motel" is a changing concept with more things coming under the umbrella word all the time such as gift shops, bars, service stations (R. 167). A restaurant such as Denny's would be an asset to a motel (R. 171).

Based upon examination of Exhibits P-26 and P-27, it is his opinion that the World Motel and Covey's New America are motels with restaurants. (Exhibit P-28 so lists them.) Sheet 1-B of Exhibit P-14 shows a motel package and it would be an advantage to advertise it as a motel with a restaurant (R. 172). It makes no difference to the traveling public whether a restaurant is owned or is independent (R. 176).

Sherman Lowman testified that he is manager of the approved accommodation department of American Automobile Association (AAA) whose duties include inspection and rating of motels and cafes as good, excellent or outstanding (R. 177). The ratings are affected by swimming pools, adequate parking, food service and beverage service (R. 178). A really good restaurant receives a separate listing (R. 180). The World Motel in Salt Lake City is listed with its restaurant (R. 181). Commencing with 1966, hotels and motels are listed separately (R. 181). Three tour books issued by AAA are exhibits P-29, 30 and 31 which list motels not necessarily members of AAA (R. 182-183). They cover national chains including the Hyatt Royal Inn which

is the only one in Salt Lake rated excellent and shows a restaurant at this location.

AAA rating books show swimming pools (R. 186) and make no clear distinction between hotels and motels (R. 187).

Jesse M. Payne testified that the State Contractor's Licensing Department issued a license on May 5, 1965, to Bob B. Allred Construction Company limiting its contracts to \$75,000.00 (R. 189).

Barbara Sine, wife of Wesley Sine, son of the plaintiffs testified that she telephoned the Hyatt Hotels, Motels and Lodges and got the information shown on the Notice to Produce (R. 190-191). Exhibit P-32 is a list of the results of the calls she made.

Wesley Sine testified that the cards of several motels showing restaurants are included in Exhibit P-33 depicting motels he has seen. Exhibit P-34 is a picture of the Hyatt Royal Inn in Salt Lake (R. 196).

Denny's Restaurant and the Hyatt Motor Lodge were originally painted the same color, then the Denny's Restaurant was darkened (R. 197). The motor lodge was opened October 1, 1965, and has three convention halls the largest of which holds 100 to 150 people (R. 198).

Exhibit P-37 is a circular obtained from the Hyatt Motel desk and shows the variety of motels and hotels owned by the Hyatt Motel chain (R. 202).

The Hyatt Motel dispenses alcoholic beverages on the premises (R. 203). The Denny's Restaurant has an exit to the north toward the rooms of the motel (R. 204). Denny's Restaurant appears to have a capacity of about 143 (R. 205).

The circular obtained at the desk from the Hyatt Motel (P-37) mentions convention rooms (R. 206) and he was told that Denny's could set up a buffet in the convention rooms (R. 207).

Definitions of motel, hotel, restaurant and inn from Webster's New 20th Century Dictionary Unabridged Second Edition, copyright 1957 were read into the record (R. 208-209).

Pursuant to the Notice to Produce, there were produced Exhibit P-39, the lease agreement to the Butler Enterprises; P-40, a list of stockholders of Western Travel, and P-41, a lease on the restaurant in Provo by Western Travel of "certain property — in the motor-hotel known as the Royal Inn of Provo consisting of a dining room, kitchen, coffee shop —."

The Court was informed by counsel that Denny's is the advertised name of Butler Enterprises (R. 215).

The plaintiff Jerry Sine testified that his only effort to stop construction was to notify his attorney two or three times, the first time around April (R. 220-221).

Defendants offered Exhibit D-42 which is the Salt Lake City Zoning Ordinance Revised May 1, 1965, with

a stipulation that the property is zoned C-1 thereunder (R. 224-225).

Bruce Hartman, assistant operations director for Hyatt Motels testified that he helps the sales program and is a trouble shooter (R. 226). Out of 38 motels of the Hyatt chain, one in Indio has purchased a food operation (R. 227). The Hyatt Chalet Motel in Salt Lake with 100 units will not support the Denny's Restaurant of 160 seats. When the motel is not 100% occupied, it will supply not over 20% of Denny's gross (R. 228). Restaurants connected with motels can't exist on motel patronage only (R. 229). Exhibit P-38 shows the restaurant nearest the various Hyatt Chalet motels.

Motel advertising emphasizes things which will attract customers. Swimming pools produce no revenue but are a sales advantage. Parking is necessary but does not support an extra charge (R. 233).

Richard G. Sharp testified that he is the local architect for Butler Enterprises, supervised the construction of Denny's Restaurant in association with Colwell & Ray of Los Angeles. The construction started April 1, 1965, cost \$160,000.00 plus \$80,000.00 for the equipment and furnishings (R. 236). On July 18, he learned of an effort to stop construction. At that time the building was 80% complete (R. 237). He doesn't know what Butler Enterprises is. He built for Denny's which is the organization that has the restaurants (R. 239). Exhibit P-17 are the plans he worked from. He had no correspondence with Denny's Restaurant and

used the name Denny's Restaurant in obtaining the building permit (Exhibit P-16) which name he obtained from the plans (R. 240). The general contractor supplied to him the name Hyatt Chalet Motels (R. 241). Wayne Young was Allred's foreman on the job (R. 242).

Donald Daniel testified that he is the local manager of Denny's (R. 244). The majority of his business comes from the public. If the motel is full, 80% comes from the public (R. 245). He has worked at other Denny's Restaurants which were associated with motels (R. 246). He doesn't know whether there is a Denny's Restaurant corporation, but he was paid by Denny's prior to the opening of the restaurant (R. 250).

It was stipulated that in 1956 the property involved was zoned B-3 under the 1955 Salt Lake City Ordinances (R. 252).

Jackson B. Howard testified that he represented Western Travel in preparation of Exhibit P-39 (R. 254) and identified the letters in Exhibit P-43 as being to and from his office. Referring to the Harold Butler Enterprises as the Butler Enterprises was a human error (R. 256).

M. Byron Fisher testified that he was associated with the attorneys for the plaintiff. He knows the handwriting on Exhibit P-43. The information on P-44 was obtained from the Salt Lake City Building Permit (R. 258). He called the Secretary of State for "Butler Enterprises"

and for "Denny's" neither of which was qualified or listed (R. 260). Later, when he called for "Harold Butler Enterprises," he got the name of the process agent (R. 261). He visited the premises on June 10, 1965, talked to and served Mr. Young who was in charge of construction (R. 264-266).

Barbara Sine testified that she attempted to locate Bob Allred in Bountiful and that both the office and his home at 1030 Millbrook were deserted and the Christmas tree lights were still up at the home (R. 267-269).

POINTS TO BE ARGUED

1. The restriction against a motel covers all parts of a motel.

2. The lease to Harold Butler Enterprises does not circumvent the restriction.

3. Injunction is the appropriate remedy.

4. The Motion for New Trial should have been granted.

(a) Finding of Fact No. 5 erroneously states that Butler obtained a building permit.

(b) Finding of Fact No. 5 erroneously indicates that plaintiffs did nothing to serve Harold Butler Enterprises until July 15, 1965.

(c) Finding of Fact No. 6 is erroneous in finding independent construction and operation of the restaurant and the motel.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE RESTRICTION AGAINST A MOTEL COVERS ALL PARTS OF A MOTEL.

For purpose of analysis it is assumed in this point that all of the facilities shown at Sheet 1-B of Exhibit P-14 were built as the Hyatt Royal Inn, complete with lodgings, office, restaurant, swimming pool, liquor dispensary and parking areas.

It is admitted that motels do not necessarily have food service facilities and contended that most large ones do, in accordance with the evidence in this case.

The Court is asked to take judicial notice of the fact that the Hotel Utah, the Newhouse Hotel, and other large hotels have dining rooms, coffee shops and banquet facilities. These are all parts of a complete service hotel, regardless of whether an area where food is served is called the "Coffee Shop," the "Sky Room," "The Royal Room," the "Persian Room" or "The Roof Garden."

Likewise, food service is part of the operation of many motels by the definitions given by Mr. Sine (R. 109), Mr. Webber (R. 152), Mr. Reed (R. 160-161) and Mr. Lowman (R. 178).

A motel is defined to be a "roadside hotel for motorists, usually consisting of private cabins" (R. 209).

A hotel is "an establishment or building providing a number of bedrooms, baths, etc., and usually food,

for the accommodation of travelers, semi-permanent residents, etc.” (R. 209).

The combined definition of a motel, therefore, is: “A roadside establishment providing a number of bedrooms, baths, and usually food, for the accommodation of travelers, semi-permanent residents, for motorists and usually consisting of private cabins.”

An “inn” is an establishment or building providing food, drink, bedrooms, etc. for travelers; a hotel, especially one in the country or along the highway” (R. 209). The name “Hyatt Royal Inn,” therefore, emphasizes food service more than “motel” or “motor lodge” and gives the entire operation the atmosphere of good food.

Many motels serve “continental breakfasts.” Some advertise free breakfasts (Exhibit P-30, pp. 307-309). Presumably, such breakfasts do not involve a separate eating area and the place where the food is served would seem to be part of the motel.

Where a sit-down eating room is provided by the management and operate by it, the room would again seem to be part of the motel.

If motels construct separate buildings for lodging, for office, for changing into swim clothes, the result would seem to be the same. There seems to be no reason for a different conclusion if one of the separate buildings of the cluster handles eating requirements of the motel.

The facilities and services are collectively the "hotel" or "motel" and each is an integral part. This conclusion seems compelled by the way the motel industry itself holds itself and its members out to the public — its prospective guests.

In Mr. Sine's testimony and in the Supreme Court decision in No. 9622, it is noted that one purpose of the restriction was to prevent a pretentious or imposing motel fronting on North Temple Street. In other words, the impression that is created to the public is an important item. This appears from the testimony of all of the witnesses who testified that motels advertise those features which will attract customers and one of the features is food service. No distinction is made in advertising between restaurants under joint operation with the lodging as against restaurants under separate lease, and indeed there is no indication of a distinction where the restaurants are separately owned on separate parcels of ground.

Thus, Mr. Menlove testified that the Teogra was owned by the World Motel but was under lease; Mr. Webber testified similarly as to Covey's New America Motel and the Hot Shoppes Restaurant and further testified that in his opinion the lease was the ideal arrangement. The property under question involves common ownership with a lease to Butler Enterprises which operates Denny's Restaurant. And Exhibit P-41 shows that Western Travel made a lease to Vern C. White of the restaurant portions of the Provo property, the

commencing language in Paragraph 1 of that lease being as follows:

“The property leased includes *certain property* leased in Provo, Utah County, State of Utah, *in the motor-hotel* known as The Royal Inn of Provo, consisting of a dining room, kitchen, coffee shop, etc. *** on all of the adjacent motel premises owned by lessor*.” (Emphasis added.)

All of these motels are listed in the tour guides as being motels with coffee shops, and so are they depicted in their own post cards contained in Exhibits P-26 and P-27, and P-33.

In Exhibit P-29, which is the Tour Book of AAA covering the State of Utah, at Page 215, 216 and 217, Covey's America Motel and Coffee Shop is shown as having a restaurant, Hyatt Royal Inn is shown as having a restaurant, World Motor Hotel is shown as having a dining room and coffee shop and at Page 213, the Royal Inn at Provo is shown as having a restaurant and coffee shop. Nothing is said about separate operations and no names are given for the restaurants apart from the motels.

Also in Exhibit P-28, the Best Western Travel Guide, at Page 27, are listed Covey's America Motel and Coffee Shop and the World Motor Hotel Restaurant and Coffee Shop, the Western Travel places not being listed for either Provo or Salt Lake.

Exhibit P-41 shows in Paragraphs 20 and 21 that Western Travel was much concerned with retaining its

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