1966

# Jerry Sine and Dora T. Sine, his Wife v. Western Travel, Inc., a Corporation, Hyatt Chalet Motels Inc., a Corporation, and Harold Butler Enterprises, Inc. : Brief of Respondent

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE RESTRICTIVE COVENANT WHICH PROVIDES: "THIS PROPERTY SHALL NOT BE USED FOR THE ERECTION OF A MOTEL THEREON" DOES NOT APPLY TO THE ERECTION OF A RESTAURANT.

It would seem to counsel that the very statement of Point I answers itself. Appellants, however, argue otherwise, and by a liberal use of the word "motel" apply it as an "umbrella" which covers other businesses, including Butler's restaurant. Such an interpretation is exceedingly liberal, to say the least, and contrary to the strict

rule of construction applied by the courts to restrictive covenants.

(a) *Restrictive covenants are strictly construed.*

The courts have almost universally stated the rule that they do not favor restrictions upon the utilization of land, and that such covenants are strictly construed in favor of the free and unrestricted use of the property.

In *Gardner v. Maffitt*, 74 S.W. 2d 604 (Mo., 1934), there was an appeal from a judgment of the lower court in favor of the plaintiff in a proceeding to remove the cloud of a building line restriction. The Court stated:

“The intention of the parties is the paramount and controlling question. That intention is to be ascertained from the terms of the deed considered in the light of the circumstances surrounding the parties. Restrictions, being in derogation of the fee conveyed, will not be extended by implication to include anything not clearly expressed. \* \* \* Doubts arising as to the intention of the parties must be resolved in favor of the free and untrammelled use of the land.” *Id.*, 74 S.W. 2d at 607.

In *Sporn v. Overholt*, 262 P. 2d 828 (Kan., 1953) there was involved an action to construe a restrictive covenant in each of two warranty deeds against the erection of any dwelling costing less than \$3,000.00 and containing less than four rooms. The plaintiffs had erected an apartment on the parcel of land in question. The Court in holding that the covenant did not prohibit the erection of the apartment, stated:

“The rules governing the construction of covenants imposing restrictions on the use of

reality are the same as those applicable to any contract or covenant, including the rule that, where there is no ambiguity in the language used, there is no room for construction, and the plain meaning of the language governs." *Id.*, 262 P. 2d at 830.

The Supreme Court of Kansas further stated in the *Sporn* case, *supra*, its rule of strict construction as follows:

"Another well-settled rule is that covenants and agreements restricting the free use of property are strictly construed against limitations upon such use. Such restrictions will not be aided or extended by implication or enlarged by construction. Doubt will be resolved in favor of the unrestricted use of property." *Id.*, 262 P. 2d at 830.

*Moore v. Stevens*, 106 So. 901 (Fla., 1925) involved a case in which the appellant erected a vocal studio on a parcel of land with a covenant stating that the land should be used only for residential purposes. The Supreme Court of Florida in upholding the covenant stated:

"Covenants restraining the free use of real property, although not favored, will nevertheless be enforced by courts of equity where the intention of the parties is clear in their creation, and the restrictions and limitations are confined to a lawful purpose and within reasonable bounds. \* \* \* Such covenants are strictly construed in favor of the free and unrestricted use of real property, but effect will be given to the manifest intention of the parties as shown by the language of the entire instrument in which the covenant appears when considered in connection with the circumstances surrounding the transaction \* \* \*.

Words used must be given their ordinary, obvious meaning as commonly understood at the time the instrument containing the covenants was executed \* \* \* or unless it clearly appears *from the context* that the parties intended to use them in a different sense." *Id.*, 106 So. at 903. *Wing v. Forest Lawn Cemetery Assn.*, 15 Cal. 2d 472, 101 P. 2d 1099 (1940), is to the same effect.

Writers in the field are in agreement with the cases cited herein. Tiffany states:

"The courts do not favor restrictions upon the utilization of land, and that a particular mode of utilization is excluded by agreement must clearly appear." Tiffany, *Real Property*, Vol. 2 (2d ed. 1920), sec. 394 at p. 1427.

Thompson on Real Property states:

"Covenants restraining the use of real estate are strictly construed in favor of the free and unrestricted use of such property, with due regard for the purpose contemplated as well as the circumstances surrounding the transaction. Pursuing the philosophy that lands should be free and unencumbered whenever possible, courts have developed a strong tendency to construe restrictive covenants very strictly." Thompson, *Real Property*, Vol. 7, sec. 3160 at p. 106-107.

Thompson further states:

"All doubts should generally be resolved in favor of the free use of the property and against restrictions." Thompson, *op. cit.*, at p. 108.

The Utah Supreme Court appears to be in agreement with the cases cited, and has so declared in *Parrish v. Richards*, 8 Utah 2d 419, 336 P. 2d 122 (1959). That case involved a restrictive covenant which provided that

there shall be erected on the land in question no "structure" other than a garage and one single family dwelling not to exceed one story in height. This Court held that this restriction did not forbid the erection of a tennis court surrounded by a wire fence. The Court stated:

"The trial court followed the correct doctrine that *in the construction of uncertain or ambiguous restrictions the courts will resolve all doubts in favor of the free and unrestricted use of the property*, and that it 'will have recourse to every aid, rule, or canon of construction to ascertain the intention of the parties'." *Id.* at 421.

- (b) *The ordinary and approved usage of the term "motel" does not include "restaurant," even though the restaurant may be used in conjunction with a motel.*

The question then arises as to what is the "ordinary" or "approved usage" of the term "motel." There are several cases bearing upon this point.

The Court stated in the *Parrish* case, *supra*, that: "The same methods used for construing statutes can be applied to restrictive covenants." *Id.*, at 421. Therefore, use may be made of Section 68-3-11 of the Utah Code, which states as follows:

"Rules of construction as to words and phrases. — Words and phrases are to be construed according to the context and the approved usage of the language; but technical words and phrases, and such others as have acquired a peculiar and appropriate meaning in law, or are defined by statute, are to be construed according to such peculiar and appropriate meaning or definition."

In the case of *Schermer v. Fremar Corp.*, 114 A. 2d 757 (N.J., 1955), the New Jersey court in construing the meaning of the word "motel" stated:

"The word 'motel' generally denotes a small hotel where lodgings are available for hire, with a minimum of personal service being furnished by the proprietor."

The New York courts have been in line with the decision stated above, but discounting more than most of the jurisdictions the idea that motels involve more than just sleeping quarters. In *Von Der Heide v. Zoning Board of Appeals*, 123 N.Y. Supp. 2d 726, 204 Misc. 746 (1953), the Court stated:

"But a motel is commonly understood to be an establishment essentially different from an inn or hotel in design, purpose, and use. From early times, an inn or hotel was \* \* \* 'a house where a traveler is furnished, as a regular matter of business, with food and lodging while on his journey'. \* \* \* On the other hand, a motel, as one generally understands the terms, and as typified by the building sought to be erected by the petitioner, merely furnishes the transient guest with sleeping quarters and bath and toilet facilities, with linen service and a place to park his car." *Id.*, at 730.

The *Von Der Heide* case, *supra*, seems to clearly indicate that, using the rule of ordinary meaning, the word "motel" means no more than a place to sleep and park one's automobile.

A Pennsylvania appellate court seems to clearly separate motel facilities from restaurant facilities. In

*In Re Longo's Appeal*, 132 A. 2d 899 (Pa., 1957), the Court stated:

"Sophistry and semantics to the contrary notwithstanding, the words 'motel' and 'hotel' have different connotations. *A motel may be operated with or without restaurant facilities.* Certainly a motel without a restaurant is not a hotel." *Id.*, 132 A. 2d at 901. (Emphasis supplied).

In *Metropolitan Investment Co. v. Sine*, 14 Utah 36, 376 P. 2d 940 (1962), the Utah Supreme Court upheld the covenant restricting the erection of a motel itself, in an action brought against the Appellants in this case.

On the basis of the *Metropolitan case*, *supra*, the Court limited itself strictly to the question of the erection of a "motel," and therefore there has been no circumvention of the case by the building of a restaurant on the premises in question. The Court has used language supporting this proposition, i.e.:

"To prevent an imposing *motel* on North Temple Street as far as possible was the main reason defendants purchased the property from Fendrelakis in the first place, and they carried out this purpose in requiring the restriction as a condition of sale to Mr. Neilson \* \* \*." *Id.*, at 42.

The Court also used the term without any reference to a restaurant or any motel complex:

"If a large *motel* was erected, in part, on the subject property \* \* \*." *Id.*, at 42.



## POINT II.

THE APPELLANT IS PRECLUDED FROM  
THE EQUITABLE RELIEF HE SEEKS BY  
REASON OF LACHES.

The Court in its Findings of Fact found that in March, 1965, the Appellants knew of the commencement of the construction of a restaurant on the premises in question but that no action was taken to prevent further construction until on or about the 15th day of July, 1965, when the Respondents had expended approximately \$200,000.00 on the building and equipment. This finding was amply supported by the evidence.

The Court, however, in its Memorandum Decision (R. 57) did not base its determination on laches. The point is argued here because it was incorporated in Respondents' motion to dismiss. The general rule of law is that:

“A complainant seeking equitable relief against the violation of a building restriction must act promptly on discovery of the ground for complaint, as otherwise his laches may bar his right to relief.” 26 C.J.S. Deeds, Sec. 172, p. 1182.

Several cases are cited in support of the above text but none of them are Utah decisions. A complete search of the Digest System has disclosed no Utah case on the point in question. An annotation at 12 A.L.R. 2d, p. 396, entitled “Building Covenant-Laches or Delay” collects many cases on the subject. The following two cases are illustrative of the foregoing rule and are pertinent here.

*Coates, et al. v. Young Women's Christian Assn. Philadelphia*, 91 Atl. 863 (Pa., 1914), involved an action to restrain the erection of a building in violation of a building restriction prohibiting the erection of houses fronting on a certain street. It appeared that a contract for a building fronting on the street, and to cost \$19,281.00, was let September 18, 1913, and its construction began shortly thereafter. All passing by could see that it fronted on the prohibited street, and that the work was steadily progressing. The plaintiffs learned in September and early in October that the work was going on but made no objection until November 8, and gave no notice until November 11, when the building was nearly completed and substantially all the subcontracts had been let. The court on appeal found that the lower court had properly held that the plaintiffs' right of action was barred by laches.

*Mercer, et ux. v. Keynton, et ux.*, 127 So. 859 (Fla., 1930), involved a situation where restrictive covenants as to the construction of buildings upon real estate did not appear in the immediate deed of conveyance, but were contained in the Muniments of Title of Record so as to bind a purchaser. An injunction to restrain a violation of the restrictive covenants was denied without prejudice. It was held upon appeal that the denial would be affirmed where there was delay in seeking injunction pending which the construction of the building progressed so far as to make it inequitable to grant an injunction. The plaintiffs had knowledge of the construction of the building on or about March 22, 1928, but made no complaint until the filing of an action on April 30, 1928,

when the framework of the entire building had been completed.

## CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons the Judgment of the Trial Court should be affirmed.